STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jul 26 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Cherokee County

H. Steven DeBerry, IV, Circuit Court Judge

NICHOLAS BONNER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000085

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSANNAH ROSS, ESQ.

Ross & Enderlin, PA
330 E. Coffee St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 242-0029
susannah@rossenderlin.com

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

Other Counsel of Record:

Chelsey Marto
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803)734-6305

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the PCR judge correctly find that petitioner was entitled to a belated appeal because he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to a direct appeal?
2. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the admission of prior bad act testimony?
3. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to take exception to the jury instruction on inference?
4. Did the PCR judge err in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to move to suppress evidence or object to its admission?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2012, the Cherokee County Grand Jury indicted Nicholas A. Bonner for trafficking in crack cocaine, more than 400 grams (2012-GS-11-00820) and trafficking in cocaine, more than 400 grams (2012-GS-11-00821). On April 24, 2017, Mr. Bonner proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly. He was represented by Attorney Candice K. Lapham. Assistant Solicitor Christopher M. Bain of the Seventh Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case. The jury found Mr. Bonner guilty of the lesser included offense of trafficking in crack cocaine, 28-100 grams. The jury did not reach a verdict on indictment number 2012-GS-11-00821 for trafficking powder cocaine resulting in a mistrial. Judge Kelly sentenced the appellant to imprisonment for a term of 20 years. Trial counsel moved to reconsider the sentence and for a new trial on May 5, 2017. After a hearing, Judge Kelly denied the motions on May 30, 2017.

Trial counsel filed a notice of appeal, but then moved to remand the case to the circuit court to resolve pending post-trial motions. The South Carolina Court of Appeals granted Mr. Bonner's motion and dismissed the appeal without prejudice on August 24, 2017. The Remittitur was issued on September 15, 2017.

Mr. Bonner then filed a second motion for a new trial and a hearing on the motion was convened before Judge Kelly. Mr. Bonner was again represented by attorney Lapham, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor Bain. By written order filed December 5, 2017, Judge Kelly denied the motion. Following the denial of his motions, Ms. Lapham failed to file a notice of appeal.

Bonner filed a post-conviction relief action with a number of allegations and requesting belated appellate review of direct appeal claims pursuant to *White v. State*, 263

S.C. 110, 119, 208 S.E.2d 35, 40 (1974). An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry on August 4, 2021. Bonner was present at the hearing and represented by Attorney Susannah Ross. Assistant Attorney General William H. Ray represented Respondent. In an order filed December 23, 2021, Judge DeBerry found that trial counsel's failure to timely file and serve the notice of appeal deprived Mr. Bonner of an opportunity to seek appellate review of his conviction and that he was entitled to belated review. The judge denied relief on all other allegations and dismissed the application. After the denial of Bonner's Motion to Alter or Amend the Judgment, a timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on January 26, 2022. This petition for writ of certiorari and a separately filed brief pursuant to *White* follow.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 6, 2012, the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office ("CCSO") and the City of Gaffney Police Department executed a search warrant on 126 Iris Lane. (R. 201-03; R. 280-84; R. 347-48). This search warrant was for marijuana based on the statement of Sheriff's Officer Brandon Gardner that a confidential reliable informant (CRI) had informed him over speakerphone that he had seen marijuana at 126 Iris Lane within the past 72 hours. (R. 283, l. 22, 843). This was the home of Gwendolyn A. Bonner, Nicholas Bonner's mother, where the State alleged that he lived along with his brother, Chris Bonner. (R. 292, l. 7, 708, l. 15). Police found a number of people including Nicholas Bonner, Jarvis McCluney, Stephon Adams, Travis Davidson, Ronald Littlejohn, and Eric Lattimore at the residence. They also found cocaine in Littlejohn's front right pocket, approximately two ounces of crack cocaine in the oven, \$13,084 in cash in the top drawer of the nightstand in the left bedroom, \$615 in another bedroom, and \$1,250 in Appellant's front right pocket. (R. 203-08; R. 291-92; R. 294-98; R. 303-09).

After the search and arrest of the occupants of the Bonner home, law enforcement got a warrant and searched the abandoned property across the street at 125 Iris Lane where they found over 400 grams of cocaine and crack cocaine in a trash can under the carport. (R. 209-10; R. 235, l. 11-15; R. 240-41; R. 249-50; R. 349-50). The second search warrant for 125 Iris Lane was issued August 6, 2012, at 7:20 p.m. It was based on City Officer Ronnie Anderson's affidavit saying that there was probable cause to search because a CRI who was known to him to be reliable and to recognize cocaine had seen cocaine at 126 Iris Lane within 72 hours. (R. 847). Anderson said that during the raid of 126 Iris Lane, Detective Todd Parker approached him and said that his CI, Prentiss

Jeffries, told him a large quantity of narcotics was across the street. (R. 234), He said Parker then called the CI handed over the phone and the CI relayed that there was a large amount of cocaine belonging to Nick Bonner across the street so Anderson then got the search warrant for 125 Iris Lane. (R. 234, 248).

Nicholas Bonner gave a statement to law enforcement saying Eric Lattimore came into the house looking for a scale to weigh his crack cocaine and the police raided the house soon after. (R. 319-20; R. 351-52). This statement was corroborated by the testimony and statements made by all the witness at the scene except Eric Lattimore. (R. 258-60; R. 268; R.382; R. 393; R. 587; 698). Lattimore was the only witness to contradict this saying he went to Nick Bonner's house to buy beer and a cigarette when he witnessed Nick make a drug sale. Without objection, he said a typical day at Nick Bonner's house was a lot of guys smoking reefer and selling drugs. (R. 160, l. 17). He then said he witnessed Nick make drug sales from the house every time he had been there before. (R. 161-62).

State Witnesses

Prentiss Jeffries, the confidential informant who Officers Garrett and Anderson claimed provided the tip supporting the two search warrants in the case, testified that he had had not been to 126 Iris Lane in the 72 before prior to the raid and did not provide the tip. (R.126, l. 21). He said he had only dealt with Investigator Todd Parker giving information about property crimes. (R. 120) He said that he started working as a CI with officer Todd Parker in 2008 signing a CI agreement with his thumbprint. (R. 116). He said he had worked off some charges years before and Todd Parker had his charges dismissed (R. 118). He said he was not the tipster here and denied providing information

to law enforcement or speaking with officers until after the search. (R. 120-1). He said Investigators Todd Parker and Ronnie Anderson met with him a couple of days after the bust, coached him on what to say, and paid him to put his thumbprint to sign an undated false statement against Mr. Bonner. (R. 124, 128). Prentiss Jeffries read out the statement which said he saw Nick Boner at 126 Iris Lane with a large amount of cocaine which he bagged and handed off to Pee-Wee who took the cocaine across the street and put in a trash can. (R. 123). Jeffries then testified that the statement was not true. (R. 123, l. 17).

Todd Parker testified that he was fired from the Cherokee County Sheriffs Office two days following the raid. (R. 144) He said beginning in 2008 until the time of this search, he was working property crimes with CI Prentiss Jefferies. (R. 136, 139) He said that on August 6, 2012, Jeffries provided a tip that a shipment of drugs came to 126 Iris Lane. (R. 140) Because he did not work narcotics, he put Jeffries on speakerphone so narcotics investigator Brandon Gardner could hear the tip and get the search warrant. (R. 142). He said that he was involved with the raid of 126 Iris Lane and later that day after failing to find a large shipment of drugs, a second call with Jeffries revealed that the drugs had been moved across the street. Parker gave that information to Ronnie Anderson but did not remember if Anderson was there during the phone call. (R. 143).

Eric Lattimore said he went to Mr. Bonner's home, and saw Bonner send a person to retrieve bags from across the street to get drugs for "[s]ome dude from out of town[.]". (R. 151-52). He said Mr. Bonner produced scales, weighed what Lattimore described as "some white stuff like cocaine, crack cocaine[.]" and gave it to the out-of-towner. (R. 152-53; R. 159, l. 5-14). He said Mr. Bonner then directed his man to return the bag of drugs across the street. (R. 153, l. 3-4). The police raided the house soon after and

arrested everyone present. (R. 159-60). He gave law enforcement a written statement consistent with his trial testimony. (R. 167-68). Lattimore told the jury that he had been to Mr. Bonner's "a lot" and had seen Bonner dealing out of his house in crack and powder cocaine every time he went to the house. (R. 161-62). A motion to exclude the testimony was argued and denied by the trial judge before opening statements but counsel did not renew the objection. (R. 93).

Stephon Adams testified that when he was in Mr. Bonner's house, Eric Lattimore walked in and asked for a scale which Lattimore used to weigh cocaine that he had brought with him. (R. 258-60). Soon after Mr. Bonner said, "there go the cops[,]” and people began to flee the house. (R. 255-56). As he was leaving Adams saw Lattimore at the back door near the stove trying to get out. (R. 270) Adams was apprehended and arrested for trafficking crack cocaine. (R. 256, 11-14). While the group, minus Lattimore, were transported in the police van, Mr. Bonner asserted to the group that the drugs belonged to Lattimore. (R. 260-61). Adams denied knowing anything about the drugs recovered from across the street. (R. 264-65).

Jarvis McCluney testified that he was at Mr. Bonner's house smoking marijuana. (R. 380). McCluney denied familiarity with drugs other than marijuana, but said he saw Lattimore arrive and produce a hard, white substance and ask for a scale. McCluney admitted he handed him the scale. (R. 381-83). McCluney denied ever seeing an exchange of drugs but admitted during direct examination that Lattimore came to the door and called Mr. Bonner outside. (R. 384, 1-19). Somebody yelled the police had arrived, and McCluney pocketed his scale and stepped through the door while Lattimore ran toward the kitchen. (R. 385, 17-22). McCluney saw an argument between Mr. Bonner

and Lattimore because, "Eric was asking everyone to put the drugs on a 14 year old." (R. 385-86). McCluney said everyone was put in a van and transported to the jail except Lattimore. He transported in Inv. Ronnie Anderson's jeep. (R. 387, l. 17; R. 395, l. 7) Lattimore denied knowing anything about the drugs recovered from across the street. (R. 390-91). McCluney gave a statement to law enforcement largely consistent with his trial testimony. (R. 392, 15-23).

Defense Witnesses

Nicholas Bonner testified that he did not live at 126 Iris Lane but visited his mother there every day and listed her address on his paperwork to ensure that she received it. (R. 613-14). He testified his mother had worked for nearly forty years after inheriting the home from her own father and the cash was her savings. (R. 614-15). This testimony was corroborated by a number of defense witnesses. The day of the raid, Appellant said he was in his mother's house with friends when Eric Lattimore came in asking for a scale. McCluney gave Lattimore the scale. (R. 615-16). Bonner testified that when he saw Lattimore's dope, he told him, "get the hell out of my house. By that time the police come on up in there." (R. 616, l. 13-15).

Appellant said Lattimore fled to the back door from the kitchen at the time police arrived and threw drugs in the stove when he found the back door was nailed shut and could not get out the back. (R. 617, 3-17). Jarvis McCluney and Stephon Adams also said Lattimore ran to the kitchen. (R. 270; R. 385). Mr. Bonner said he hit Lattimore in the front yard after Lattimore refused to admit the drugs were his and said to "put the drugs on the 14 year old." (R. 617-18). He recalled after hitting Lattimore in the mouth, Officer Anderson asked why he hit his informant. (R. 618-19). Mr. Bonner explained the cash in

his pocket was from selling a four-wheeler to Gus Logan, who testified that he had bought the four-wheeler from Bonner for \$2500. (R. 619-20, 544).

On cross-examination, Mr. Bonner read the statement he gave to law enforcement saying that Lattimore entered the home, pulled out a bag with a big block of crack, asked for a scale, said he would sell his crack for \$350, and that the police came right after. (R. 640, 12-19). Bonner said he thought his Mama had \$35,000, not \$13,084 implying the police had underreported the cash to steal it and noted that Parker was fired for unlawfully selling poker machines. (R. 631-34). He was confronted with Eric Lattimore's statement. (R. 647). When asked how Lattimore could have known the color of the bag and scale, Mr. Bonner testified that Lattimore would have known the colors because the drugs were his and he weighed them on the scale. (R. 648-9).

When confronted with CI Prentiss Jeffries' unsigned or dated statement; Mr. Bonner asked, "Did Prentiss tell you he was coached and paid \$3500 to sign a statement on me?". (R. 649). The Applicant was admonished for failing to answer the question though Prentiss Jeffries had, in fact, testified that Investigators Todd Parker and Ronnie Anderson met with him after the bust, coached him on what to say, and paid him to sign a false statement against Mr. Bonner. (R. 121-2)

Rodney Love, a friend of Mr. Bonner's, arrived at the house after the police had raided the building and testified that he saw law enforcement retrieve a red bag from the woods, then bring it back to Mr. Bonner's property. (R. 463-65). Love also testified he observed Ofc. Anderson leave with Lattimore in custody, then return around fifteen minutes later. (R. 468, 9-14). After Anderson returned, the entire raid team converged on the abandoned house across the street from Mr. Bonner; when they opened the trash can,

they began to celebrate. (R. 468-69). Love said Bonner did not live at the home, but visited every day to see his mother, Gwen Bonner. (R. 471-72).¹ Love also testified the nightstand in which the \$13,000 cash was found was Gwen's "money drawer." (R. 487, 6-23).

Daphine Bonner, Mr. Bonner's aunt, testified Mr. Bonner did not live at the home, but would visit every day. (R. 530-31). Daphine testified Gwen trusted banks, but when confronted with the \$13,840 from the "money drawer," Daphine found nothing strange about it, explaining she also had such a drawer. (R. 534-35). DeeGee Bonner, Mr. Bonner's older sibling, testified Mr. Bonner visited his mother often and denied any drug transactions or other suspicious activity was taking place at the home. (R. 705-06). DeeGee explained the money in the drawer was her mother's savings, separate from her checking account. (R. 706-10). DeeGee denied ever seeing Mr. Bonner use, buy, or transport drugs. (R. 710-11).

Chris Bonner, Mr. Bonner's cousin, said he was sitting by the big tree when Lattimore arrived and asked him for a scale; Chris denied knowing anything about a scale and Lattimore went into the house. (R. 578-80). Chris did not see what occurred inside the house, and testified he never saw Lattimore and Mr. Bonner walk out. (R. 580-81). Chris denied it was common for people to come and go from the house buying and selling drugs, and testified he never saw Mr. Bonner involved in drug activity. (R. 581, 11-21). Chris was present and arrested during the raid. (R. 586-87). As the police brought everybody out of the house, Lattimore said, "put the drugs on the young guy, and [Mr. Bonner] hit him in his mouth." (R. 587, 6-11).

¹ Gwen Bonner was deceased at the time of trial. (R. 494, 22-24).

Nickcos Smith testified he was at the house when Lattimore entered and sat down next to him. (R. 697-98). A few minutes later, Ronnie Littlejohn entered and threw marijuana down on the table while Lattimore was looking out the back window. (R. 698, l. 7-11; R. 701, l. 6-14). Smith also recalled Lattimore producing the crack and asking McCluney for the scale, and that Mr. Bonner told him to get out with the drugs. (R. 699-701). When the police raided the house, he saw Lattimore throw his crack into the stove. (R. 699, 13-14). Smith denied ever seeing Prentiss Jefferies at the house or any person from North Carolina buy drugs from Nick that day. (R. 698, l. 15-20). Smith affirmed his own nickname was "Pee Wee." (R. 701, 22-23).

ARGUMENT

1. The PCR judge correctly found that petitioner was entitled to a belated appeal because he did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to a direct appeal.

To establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, petitioner must show counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that defendant was prejudiced by such deficient performance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Gallman v. State*, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992). After the client is convicted and sentenced, trial counsel in all cases has a duty to make certain that the client is fully aware of the right to appeal, and if the client is indigent, assist the client in filing an appeal. *In re Anonymous Member of the Bar*, 303 S.C. 306, 307, 400 S.E.2d 483 (1991); see also *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738, 87 S.Ct. 1396, 18 L.Ed.2d 493 (1967).

In this case, trial counsel filed a notice of appeal but then moved to remand the case to the circuit court to resolve pending post-trial motions. The South Carolina Court of Appeals granted the motion and dismissed the appeal without prejudice. However, after all post trial matters were resolved, counsel failed to appeal. Trial counsel admitted error and testified at the PCR hearing that Mr. Bonner wanted and requested an appeal but due to an oversight on her part the appeal was not effectuated, and she did not file a timely notice of appeal. (R. 903-4). In light of this testimony, the PCR judge was correct in finding Mr. Bonner was entitled to a belated appeal. See *White v. State*, 263 SC 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

2. The PCR judge erred in refusing to find counsel ineffective for failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the admission of prior bad act testimony.

Before the Petitioner's trial, the state proffered the testimony of Eric Lattimore about prior bad acts of Bonner selling drugs arguing it was admissible to show intent and absence of mistake for the aiding and abetting element of the charge of trafficking. (R. 82, 90, 91). *State v. King* was cited to support to support this position. *State v. King*, 561 S.E.2d 640, 349 S.C. 142 (S.C. App. 2002). (R. 82, 90, 91). The defense moved to exclude the testimony and the judge ruled that he would allow it because "aiding and abetting was in this case and the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect". (R. 93). Without objection, Lattimore then told the jury that he had been to Bonner's "a lot" and had seen Bonner dealing out of his house in crack and powder cocaine every time he went to the house. (R. 161-62). During redirect Lattimore agreed to leading questions by the Solicitor that he was not surprised that there were drugs at the petitioner's house because Lattimore was familiar with the drug dealers in the community and people go to Nick Bonner's house at 126 Iris Lane to get drugs. (R. 180-1). Trial counsel did not make a contemporaneous objection to this testimony and the State highlighted the prior bad act testimony in closing argument. (R. 762, l. 21).

Deficient Performance

To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must make a "contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial court." *State v. Sweet*, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007). If an evidentiary ruling is pretrial, a contemporaneous objection must be raised during trial when the evidence is admitted, whereas a party need not renew an objection if the decision is final. *See State v. Wiles*, 383 S.C. 151, 156, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009).

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