RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Cherokee County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Trial Judge
The Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000085

NICHOLAS BONNER..... Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA..... Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

South Carolina's Appellate Courts have no jurisdiction to entertain appeals when the notice of appeal is not timely given and served. *White*, 263 S.C. 110, 119, 208 S.E.2d 35, 40 (1974). Nevertheless, if a PCR court finds that a petitioner has been denied his right to direct appeal from trial due to counsel's errors, his request for post-conviction relief may be denied, but he may be permitted to seek belated review of trial errors in conjunction with his appeal of the order dismissing his PCR application. *Id.*

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that she initially filed a notice of appeal, but requested the matter be sent back to the circuit court to resolve a pending motion. (App. 902). The appellate court dismissed without prejudice. (App. 902). The motion was denied. (App. 903). Counsel stated she had prepared the paperwork to effectuate the appeal but failed to file the notice because she was dealing with health issues. (App. 903). Counsel testified that the failure to timely file a notice of appeal was "one-hundred percent" her fault. (App. 903-04).

Respondent concedes that Petitioner did not waive his right to an appeal and the failure to file the notice of appeal was Counsel's fault. Accordingly, Respondent recognizes and concedes that Petitioner is entitled to relief pursuant to *White v. State*, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974).

II. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prior bad acts testimony because Counsel made a reasonable, strategic decision not to object and Petitioner was not prejudiced because the objection would have been overruled and there was substantial evidence of guilt.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to prior bad acts testimony. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel made a reasonable, strategic decision not to object and Petitioner was not prejudiced because the objection would have been overruled and there was substantial evidence of guilt. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

Evidence of a defendant's crimes, wrongs, or acts is generally not admissible. Rule 404(b), SCRE. South Carolina courts view a defendant's previous distribution of drugs as a prior bad act. *Id. See also State v. Bostick*, 307 S.C. 226, 414 S.E.2d 175 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding that testimony of a defendant's prior drug distribution acts constituted prior bad acts). However, "[i]n the context of a criminal case, we have noted that while evidence of other crimes is generally inadmissible to show criminal propensity or to demonstrate that the accused is a bad individual, evidence of other crimes is admissible if necessary to establish a material fact or element of the crime charged." *In re Corley*, 353 S.C. 202, 205-06, 577 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2003).

A defendant's prior bad acts may nevertheless be admitted to show motive, identity, existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent. *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). To be admissible under this exception, "there must be a

logical relevance between the acts in question and the purpose for introduction.” *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 153, 561 S.E.2d 640, 645 (Ct. App. 2002). Evidence of prior drug distribution must be clear and convincing before it can be admitted. *State v. Dickerson*, 341 S.C. 391, 399, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000). Additionally, “pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, the prejudice resulting from the admission of this evidence must be outweighed by its probative value.” *King*, 349 S.C. at 153, 561 S.E.2d at 645. When the admissibility of prior bad acts evidence turns on the credibility of conflicting witnesses, it should not be excluded because credibility is an issue solely reserved for the jury. *State v. King*, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (2002).

This Court explained application of the intent exception from *Lyle* in two drug cases. The Supreme Court noted, “We have held that evidence of a prior drug transaction is relevant on the issue of intent when the defendant has been charged with possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute.” *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001) (citing *State v. Gore*, 299 S.C. 368, 384 S.E.2d 750 (1989)). In *Gore*, the Court held that evidence of prior sales by defendant was admissible on the issue of intent where the prior sale occurred one month before the charged offense. *Gore*, 299 S.C. at 370, 384 S.E.2d at 751 (“The evidence that appellant sold cocaine from the trailer on two occasions only one month earlier tends to establish his intent regarding the cocaine in his possession at the time in question.”).

In *Wilson*, the Court held evidence of a prior drug transaction was relevant on the issue of intent when the prior sales occurred only a few days earlier. *Wilson*, 345 S.C. at 7, 545 S.E.2d at 830. The Court relied on circumstantial evidence to prove intent. *Id.* (finding the amount of baggies and cash found in hotel room, evidence of flushing before police entered the room, and testimony that defendant himself did not smoke crack was properly admitted by the trial judge to prove intent of prior bad acts exceptions).

Whether failure to object constitutes deficient performance generally hinges on whether a valid trial strategy was utilized. *See Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 241, 814 S.E.2d 487, 490 (2018) (finding Counsel was deficient because the failure to object was not related to an otherwise valid trial strategy); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992) (where “counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel”).

Counsel was not ineffective on this ground. A pre-trial hearing was held concerning Lattimore’s proffered testimony. Lattimore proffered that he went to Petitioner’s home several times before and witnessed Petitioner selling drugs. (App. 83-89). Lattimore’s testimony was admissible as evidence of intent, existence of a common scheme or plan, and absence of mistake. (App. 90-91). At trial, the State specifically focused on intent because aiding and abetting is an element of the offense, and repeated drug deals shows at least an intent to aid and abet the drug transactions and that the evidence was admissible under *King*. (App. 91-92). This was deemed admissible by the Court, noting that generally prior bad acts are not allowed, but the probative value of Lattimore’s testimony outweighed the risk of unfair prejudice on the issue of intent to aid and abet. (App. 93). The trial court stated that courts have generally allowed such testimony when it goes to an essential element of the charged offense. (App. 93).

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that Judge Kelly presided over both trials. (App. 894). She testified that she did not make a contemporaneous objection because she exhausted the issue pre-trial, she was aware of what Judge Kelly’s position would have been because of his rulings at both trials, and because she did not want to highlight his guilt to the jury. (App. 900). She testified after her pre-trial motion was denied, she did not want to relitigate the issue, but elected to focus on cross-examination instead. (App. 900).

Here, Counsel was not deficient because Counsel requested a pre-trial motion on this issue, which was denied. She also raised the same issue at the mistrial, in front of the same judge. Counsel reasonably concluded that another objection on this basis would have been fruitless and potentially harmful because it likely would have drawn greater attention to the issue by the jury.

Additionally, no prejudice has been established. Any objection launched would have been overruled, given that it was legally proper testimony and Counsel was aware of the Court's decision on the matter both during the first trial and at the pre-trial hearing. Also, the evidence of guilt at trial was substantial. Uncontroverted testimony from both the State's and the defense's witnesses showed that Petitioner either lived at the house or was there daily. (App. 254-55, 378-80, 530-31, 613). Several witnesses' testimonies support the jury's finding that he was selling, or at the very least, aiding and abetting the sale of narcotics from the house. (App. 122, 152-53, 161-62, 254-56, 384-86). Numerous individuals inside the home were found to be in possession of narcotics, paraphernalia and large sums of cash were found in the home and on Petitioner's person, Lattimore stated that Petitioner was responsible for the operation, and police claimed that they were informed of the operation through Jeffries. (App. 151-53, 161-62, 203-10, 235, 240-41, 249-50, 254-56, 276-77, 291-98, 303-10, 310-11, 349-50, 381-85, 615-17). Thus, even if Counsel was deficient, no prejudice was suffered. Accordingly, relief should be denied.

III. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failure to object to jury instructions concerning inference because Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to jury instructions that were legally correct at the time and the instructions were non-prejudicial because did not impact the jury's verdict.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying relief because Counsel was ineffective for failing to object to jury instructions that possession of an object on premises can give rise to an inference that the person has power and intent to control that evidence's

disposition and use. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel was not deficient for failing to object to jury instructions that were correct at the time and that on the whole did not impact the jury's verdict. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

The facts must support a jury instruction for it to be proper. *State v. Crosby*, 355 S.C. 47, 584 S.E.2d 110 (2003). Jurors are presumed to follow the instructions of the court. *State v. Queen*, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975). Jury instructions, when analyzed, must be considered in their entirety. *See Todd v. State*, 355 S.C. 396, 585 S.E.2d 305 (2003).

If the jury charge is reasonably free from error, isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error. *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (Ct.App. 2000). The law to be charged to the jury must be determined by the evidence presented at trial. *State v. Harris*, 382 S.C. 107, 113, 674 S.E.2d 532, 535 (Ct.App. 2009). Mere presence is insufficient to prove constructive possession. *State v. Tabor*, 260 S.C. 355, 364, 196 S.E.2d 111, 113 (1973). To prove constructive possession, the "State must show a defendant had dominion and control, or the *right to exercise dominion and control* over the [illegal substance]." *State v. Halyard*, 274 S.C. 397, 400, 264 S.E.2d 841, 842 (1980) (emphasis added). The State may establish constructive possession by either circumstantial or direct evidence. *Id.* An instruction on constructive possession is not appropriate when drugs are discovered in a public area in which the defendant has no dominion or control. *State v. Fripp*, 397 S.C. 455, 725 S.E.2d 136 (2009).

This Court has found that "[t]he proper charge on constructive possession is to instruct the jury that the defendant's knowledge and possession may be inferred if the substance was found on premises under his control," and the jury may accept or deny this inference of

knowledge and possession depending upon its view of the evidence. *State v. Adams*, 291 S.C. 132, 135-36, 352 S.E.2d 483, 486 (1987). However, persons who are merely present with knowledge of the drugs at the scene are not converted into possessors without evidence that provided some assistance to the operation. *State v. Cheeks*, 408 S.C. 198, 758 S.E.2d 715 (2014).

Since Petitioner's trial this Court has ruled that an instruction that the existence of evidence showing the defendant had control over the property does not equate to a finding of constructive possession because it unduly emphasizes a piece of evidence and deprives the jury of its prerogative both to draw inferences and to weigh evidence. *State v. Stewart*, 858 S.E.2d 808, 813 (2021) (citing *Burdette*, 427 S.C. 490, 503, 832 S.E.2d 575, 582 (2019)).

Counsel is not required "to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law which were not existent at the time of trial." *Gilmore v. State*, 314 S.C. 453, 456, 445 S.E.2d 454, 457 (1994), *overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State*, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999). *See generally e.g. Thornes v. State*, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765-66 (1993) (citations omitted); *Robinson v. State*, 308 S.C. 74, 417 S.E.2d 88 (1992); *Arnette v. State*, 306 S.C. 556, 413 S.E.2d 803 (1992); *Kirkpatrick v. State*, 306 S.C. 359, 412 S.E.2d 389 (1991).

Counsel was not deficient for failing to object because the jury instruction given regarding inference was in accord with the Supreme Court precedent at the time of trial and the rule as it currently stands is not retroactively applicable in post-conviction relief proceedings. Counsel is not deficient for failing to object to the jury instruction that were both appropriate at the time and where Counsel never could have anticipated the change in law. *See e.g. Thornes*, 310 S.C. at 309-10, 426 S.E.2d at 765-66 ("[t]his court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of trial.").

Additionally, Petitioner has not met his burden of proof in establishing prejudice because

the jury instruction could not have led the jury to apply the law incorrectly. Specifically, the instruction informs the jury that their role as the finder of fact, and the Judge also told the jury that he could not comment on the evidence (App. 784-85). Likewise, the jury was instructed that mere presence at the scene was not sufficient to prove possession. (App. 792-93).

Uncontroverted testimony showed that Petitioner either lived at the house or was frequently present to visit his mother, who was not present that day. (App. 254-55, 378-80, 530-31, 613). Witness testimony also supports the jury's finding that he was selling, or at the very least, aiding and abetting the sale of narcotics from the house. (App. 122, 152-53, 161-62, 254-56, 384-86). Numerous individuals inside the home were found to be in possession of narcotics, paraphernalia and large sums of cash were found in the home and on Petitioner's person, Lattimore stated that Petitioner was responsible for the operation, and police claimed that they were informed of the operation through Jeffries. (App. 151-53, 161-62, 203-10, 235, 240-41, 249-50, 254-56, 276-77, 291-98, 303-10, 310-11, 349-50, 381-85, 615-17). This is sufficient to support the jury's finding that Petitioner was in constructive possession of the crack found in his oven. As such, there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had Petitioner's counsel objected to the jury instruction on inference. Petitioner has failed to establish prejudice and relief should be denied accordingly.

IV. The post-conviction relief court properly determined that Petitioner failed to establish counsel was ineffective for failure to move to suppress the search warrants because Counsel made a reasonable, strategic decision rendering the motion unnecessary and Counsel's decision was non-prejudicial because the motion, if raised, would have been denied.

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying him relief because Counsel failed to move to suppress the search warrants, pursuant to *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S.Ct. 2674 (1978). However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Counsel

articulated a reasonable, strategic decision that did not necessitate moving to suppress the warrants and that no prejudice was established because the motion would have been denied by the trial court. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should deny certiorari.

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